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Chairman Sprinkle: 
[Roll was taken.  Committee rules and protocol were explained.]  We will start by opening up 
the hearing on Senate Bill 237 (1st Reprint).     
 
Senate Bill 237 (1st Reprint):  Revises provisions relating to the protection of children. 

(BDR 38-469) 
 
Senator Becky Harris, Senate District No. 9: 
It is my pleasure to be here today to present Senate Bill 237 (1st Reprint) for the Committee's 
consideration.  I am sponsoring S.B. 237 (R1) for the district attorney's office.  This bill 
requires a court to consider whether an agency has created an in-home safety plan as part of 
reunification efforts with a parent.   
 
Language in section 1, subsection 8, defines an in-home safety plan as ". . . a plan created by 
an agency . . . to ensure the protection of a child in his or her home, including, without 
limitation, . . . managing any potential threats to the safety of the child . . . ."  That is a quick 
walk-through of the bill, and Ms. Duffy is here to speak more particularly to it. 
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
Committee, are there any questions about S.B. 237 (R1)? 
 
Assemblywoman Benitez-Thompson: 
So, this would be part of the case plan that is filed with the courts and goes to the judge, 
correct? 
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Brigid J. Duffy, Chief Deputy District Attorney, Juvenile Division, Office of the District 

Attorney, Clark County: 
Chapter 432B.393 of the Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) requires that an agency that 
provides child welfare services provide reasonable efforts to prevent removal and to reunify 
children.  What is being inserted into statute is a section that requires that the agency attempt 
an in-home safety plan prior to removal and for reunification.  The definition of an in-home 
safety plan is in section 1, subsection 8, and is ". . . a plan that is created by an agency . . . to 
ensure protection of a child in . . . home . . . ."  When we do that, we determine the 
vulnerabilities of the child, manage the potential threats to the safety of the child, and 
determine the capacity of the person responsible for the welfare of the child.   
 
We do everything we can to not remove children from their homes.  When we do that, part of 
it involves whether we can put a plan in place to keep that child home.  For example, let us 
say the mother has an alcohol problem, and she comes home from a very long, hard day at 
work and opens a bottle of vodka at 5 p.m.  By 7 p.m., she is drunk and passed out.  Her kids 
still have not been fed; they have not done their homework; and the 10-year-old is doing the 
homework of the 8-year-old and getting dinner together.  We would say that is the time when 
that family and those children are most vulnerable to the threat—and the threat is the 
mother's drinking issue. 
 
Because our services are delayed, we are not going to have time to get mom into alcohol 
treatment within 24 hours.  What we can do is work with that family before we remove those 
kids.  We ask what we can do between the hours of 5 p.m. and the next morning to keep 
those kids safe.  Is there a relative who could come into the home?  Is there a family friend 
who can come into the home?  Is there a place we can send the kids?  A safety plan looks at 
how vulnerable the children are to that threat and how we can manage it, so we do not 
remove the children.  This is telling the court it now has to hold the child welfare agencies 
responsible to make efforts to put that plan in place before they remove the children.  Then, 
at any stage over the course of the permanency hearings—that 12 months before we get to 
the termination of parental rights—the court, as part of our reasonable efforts to reunify that 
family, all along the way should be asking the agency what it is doing to manage those 
threats to safety, and can we get those children back home.  A case plan is going to say go to 
drug or alcohol treatment, but the safety plan itself is outside of that, so we are able to either 
keep those kids home or send them home.  
 
Assemblywoman Benitez-Thompson: 
So, the children are not being removed from the home; these are efforts to maintain the 
children in the home.  Typically, in a voluntary case the social worker will go out.  There 
might be problems, but they do not rise to the level of a removal.  There are the agency's 
efforts to go in and mitigate any problems there might be, but those problems do not end up 
inside the courts unless there is a trigger.  Is this plan submitted to the courts, even though 
you do not have a plan to take the children out of their home and put them under the purview 
of child and welfare?  Do you still have a safety plan that the parents have to respond to 
infront of a court and that workers are responding to in front of a court?  You talk about the 
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court holding the agencies responsible, so I am trying to figure out where in the legal part of 
all this the safety plan lives. 
 
Brigid Duffy: 
This is already at a stage where we would have gone before the court because children have 
been removed.  What the court has to find is that we have made efforts to prevent that 
removal in the first place.  There are plenty of opportunities where we work with families 
and do not file court cases.  In Clark County, we have a federal Title 40 waiver program 
where we are actually able to keep more and more children in their homes without any court 
process through this safety services provider.  There are cases where we have done in-home 
safety plans that will never get to court.  Hopefully, that will happen, but in the event we end 
up having to remove, the court is going to want to know what efforts we put in place to try to 
prevent that removal through the safety plan.  Those reasonable efforts to prevent removal 
and to reunify are all federal requirements as well as being our state requirement.  Now, it is 
just holding the courts accountable to hold the agencies accountable to make sure we took 
those steps before we had to ultimately remove. 
 
Assemblywoman Benitez-Thompson: 
The in-home safety plan has to be developed at what time, and then it sounds as though it is 
submitted to the courts.  What time frame would it have to be submitted within?  Is it 
a 48-hour time frame, a 72-hour time frame, or is it just a living document they hold onto 
until a master or judge asks for it? 
 
Brigid Duffy: 
When the agencies remove a child, there is a required court hearing within 72 hours of that 
removal.  At that 72-hour protective custody hearing, the court, if you were to adopt this 
statute, would be required to ask the Department of Health and Human Services what efforts 
they put in place to keep the children in their home through this in-home safety plan.  At that 
first 72-hour hearing, if we have removed the children, the court is going to want to know 
what we had done regarding the in-home safety plan.  Then at every hearing after that—and 
there are multiple hearings—the court should be asking what efforts we are making to get an 
in-home safety plan so these children can go home, because we always have to put forth 
reasonable efforts to reunify.  At every hearing after that, I would expect that the court is 
asking those questions.  If the court is not asking them, I know my colleagues from the 
conflict attorneys representing our parents and from the children's attorneys are either going 
to be asking those questions or having the court ask them. 
 
Assemblyman Yeager: 
Would it be the in-home safety plan that is referenced be in writing, or is it something that 
could be presented verbally in open court? 
 
Brigid Duffy: 
Ideally, it should always be in writing and provided to the family and anyone who is helping 
with that safety plan, so they know what their obligations are.  Ultimately, in the court 
documents we file, we can write out what that plan is.  It is separate from what a case plan is, 
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which Assemblywoman Benitez-Thompson was talking about—the steps to get your children 
returned home to you.  These are the steps to keep them in the home, so it is a different type 
of plan.  Ideally, it should be handwritten and provided to everyone who is involved in 
keeping those children safe. 
 
Assemblyman Yeager: 
I take it that this in-home safety plan that would be in writing is a new requirement, because 
it is being added per this legislation.  Is this something that essentially the agency is already 
doing?  It seems as though this is something you are already doing, but is the idea here to 
make certain it is clear and everyone has it available to look at? 
 
Brigid Duffy: 
Yes.  Statewide, we have adopted the Safety Intervention Permanency System (SIPS) model 
that requires an in-home safety plan; however, there is no definition of what that in-home 
safety plan is in statute to enforce what we are supposed to be doing.  As well, our American 
Bar Association standards for child practice would require that it be considered as part of 
a reasonable effort.  We are asking that we take our statewide model and put it into statute so 
that we can be held accountable to meeting those practice standards. 
 
Assemblyman Carrillo: 
Is this safety plan fluid and based on the need?  Obviously, it is going to suit the need for the 
situation, correct? 
 
Brigid Duffy: 
Yes, that is correct.  It could change at any time.  Say that the mom I referenced earlier with 
the alcohol issue has been through treatment and is no longer having that alcohol issue.  We 
can start pulling people off the safety plan.  When we no longer need a safety plan, we should 
be closing our case because the children are safe, and we do not need a safety net around 
them anymore.  So it is always fluid; things can change.  Sometimes grandparents come in 
from other states and then move out, and we have to replace those people.  It is always 
changeable. 
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
Are there any other questions, Committee? 
 
Assemblywoman Benitez-Thompson: 
I am not trying to be difficult; I am just trying to figure out what are the triggers.  These are 
documents that will be submitted to the court, and documents that, if developed, play a role 
in whether children remain in the home with their family or go out of the home.  Looking at 
page 3, line 31, in section 1.5 where it says, ". . . if necessary, creating an in-home safety plan 
for the protection of the child."  Could you spell out for the record and for legislative intent 
what "if necessary" means?  It does not sound as though this is a mandate for an in-home  
safety plan to be created for each and every child who is removed from the home, but in 
some cases, it might.  As the counties and the state implement this, could you spell out for 
the record what "if necessary" means? 
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Brigid Duffy: 
In a case where the court determines there is a parent who had nothing to do with why these 
children are in custody, and we are placing them with that parent, a safety plan would not be 
necessary.  That parent would not be the offending parent from whom we removed the 
children.  "If necessary" could mean children in a home for whom we do not need a safety 
plan because they are safe, but there is another reason we are keeping the case open.  I would 
also say that if the court does not believe we need a safety plan, then the court can say that 
we do not need a safety plan and the children should go home.  I would caution on that one, 
because I think if children are unsafe, they should not be in homes.  If we can make them 
safe, then we need that plan so everyone can follow it.  That was part of a compromise, to 
make sure that there was still an ability for the court to say that a safety plan is not needed. 
 
Assemblywoman Benitez-Thompson: 
It sounds as though within that first 72 hours after a child is removed, an in-home safety plan 
has to be developed.  That is going to be presented at that first 72-hour hearing.  Then the 
document will stay alive through the course of the case unless someone has cause to say that 
the in-home safety plan has been met.  It is possible that the in-home safety plan might be 
met, but you might still have an open case that is separate and unrelated to the child's case 
plan to return home.  Am I right, or is there a stronger nexus between those two? 
 
Brigid Duffy: 
At the first 72-hour hearing, the court has to ask the agency what efforts they made to prevent 
the removal of the children.  What they should be saying, if you adopt this statute, is that they 
made particular efforts to put an in-home safety plan in place but were unable to and why; or 
that they did put one in place, and here is how.  That would be the first determination at that 
72-hour hearing.  Those reasonable efforts, and all those findings are tied to federal funding 
for child welfare agencies.  If the court finds that we did not make reasonable efforts to put 
a plan in place, that has an impact on federal funding for the child welfare agency.  This is 
a way of holding the child welfare agencies accountable to prevent removal of children by 
trying everything we can to keep them in their homes. 
 
Assemblywoman Benitez-Thompson: 
Earlier in your testimony, you said if you were closing out the in-home safety plan, then 
ideally, you were also closing out the case plan because the child should be going home.  For 
legislative intent, I did not know if you meant those ought to be closed at the same time.  
Since it was mentioned, I would think the assumption would be that those were both open 
and living at the same time, or they were closed at the same time.  If you found a way to keep 
a child safe at home, then the government should not be in the middle of that family, right? 
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Brigid Duffy: 
Thank you for clarifying that for me and the intent.  Absolutely.  There are cases where the 
children are home and safe, but we may keep the case open longer.  If they are home and we 
do not need an in-home safety plan, they should just be absolutely safe children in that 
home—no longer vulnerable to whatever the threat was that caused their removal. 
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
So I am perfectly clear, if assessment goes out and they determine there is not a need to 
remove at that point, there would not then be a need to develop a safety plan, and that gets 
back to your previous answer, correct? 
 
Brigid Duffy: 
Yes, that is correct.  If there is no need to remove the children, then there is not necessarily 
a need for a safety plan. 
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
Which then gets to the time and standpoint Assemblywoman Benitez-Thompson was getting 
to earlier about those 72 hours because a removal has occurred. 
 
Brigid Duffy: 
That is correct. 
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
Is there anything else from the Committee?  [There was no reply.]  Does anyone wish to 
come forward in support of S.B. 237 (R1)? 
 
Ronald P. Dreher, representing Peace Officers Research Association of Nevada: 
I appear before you today because of my past, and what my passion was as a homicide 
detective for the Reno Police Department many years ago.  I want to thank Senators Harris 
and Gansert and Brigid Duffy for coming forward with this kind of legislation for the 
protection of the children.   
 
I have seen some horrific child abuse and neglect cases in the past.  The children I have been 
familiar with have been put back in homes under the auspices and label of "reunification."  It 
is near and dear to me to come forward anytime you have an opportunity as you do in this 
legislation to create a plan to help a child stay in a home or get out of a home.  I want to bring 
forward a case from just three days ago out of Las Vegas.  We had a little 13-year-old child 
named Aaron Jones who was found buried in a hole near his father's house.  According to the 
paper, and that is all I have because I have not contacted the homicide detectives in Las 
Vegas, you begin to get a picture of what this child went through and what happened to him.  
This would be one of the children we are talking about in this type of legislation you have 
here.  A little 13-year-old boy who comes home and, according to the paper:  
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According to Jones' arrest report, obtained Friday by the Las Vegas Review- 
Journal, he spoke with detectives Wednesday and said that he often would 
discipline Aaron for stealing food.  He also detailed the disciplinary 
techniques he used on Aaron, one of 13 children who live with him:  When 
Aaron misbehaved, he was forced to stand against the wall and hold his arms 
over his head until his arms gave out.  Then his father would have him hold 
one of his legs in the air while Aaron's brothers and sisters were encouraged to 
throw things at him.  As part of the punishment, he was not allowed to protect 
himself.   

 
Here is the next part of the article, and this is important,  
 

Jones learned at parenting class that he could give the boy a 'pop' as long as it 
did not leave a bruise, according to the police report. 

 
The previous case I worked was a reported situation of a child abduction—this is several 
years ago in Reno—with a little 7-year-old girl who was in the system repeatedly.  I still see 
the pictures of the handprints over this little girl, who, under reunification, kept being put 
back in a home.  An in-service plan, as in this legislation, may or may not have prevented 
what happened to her, but it certainly would have caught the attention of Child Protective 
Services, the detectives, and all of us who were involved in that particular situation and in 
these types of cases.  It triggers certain things we see.   
 
Even though this in-home plan, as Brigid pointed out, is something the courts would see, 
I think it is important that the words "if necessary" be removed and be taken out.  "If 
necessary" to me means that we are giving it to a court that is not there, who is relying on 
Child Protective Services or someone else who might be involved but does not know what is 
really going on.  Believe me, when you see these horrific pictures, including this one from 
three days ago in Las Vegas when this little boy was found, you know this kind of legislation 
is crucial.  He had been missing since God knows when—several months according to the 
newspaper—and that is why I am here today to tell you about somebody who has lived this 
and been part of it and helped prosecute these kinds of people.   
 
The one person who did the other case, the mom, got 20 years for substantial bodily injury to 
a child.  Both the parents in the Las Vegas case—at least the step-parent—have been 
arrested, I think for murder, and so has the father.  Even if the father was not involved in the 
system in the beginning, although it certainly looks like he was, an in-home plan would have 
been able to look at this child and the environment this child was in.  It was a one-bedroom 
apartment with 13 people living in it, and there were other children seeing what went on.  
Something was wrong there.   
 
That is why I ask this Committee to support S.B. 237 (R1) and look at possibly taking out the 
words "if necessary."  It is necessary to protect our children, and I would certainly appreciate 
your support for this bill. 
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Chairman Sprinkle: 
Is there anyone else in support of S.B. 237 (R1)?  [There was no one.]  Is there anyone in 
opposition to this bill?  [There was no one.]  Is there anyone neutral?  [There was no one.]  
Senator Harris, do you have any closing comments? 
 
Senator Becky Harris: 
I just want to thank you and the Committee for your consideration today. 
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
Thank you for being here and for bringing this bill forward.  With that, we will go ahead and 
close the hearing on S.B. 237 (R1) and open up the hearing on Senate Bill 324 (1st Reprint).      
      
Senate Bill 324 (1st Reprint):  Authorizes employees of certain facilities and 

organizations to check vital signs and provide related services. (BDR 40-372) 
 
Assemblywoman Robin Titus, Assembly District No. 38: 
[Assemblywoman Titus spoke from prepared text (Exhibit C).]  The Subcommittee to 
Conduct a Study of Postacute Care was created last session by Assembly Bill 242 of the 
78th Session.  The Subcommittee was charged with conducting a study of postacute care in 
Nevada including a view of the quality and cost of postacute care, alternatives to 
institutionalization, cost savings of home- and community-based waiver programs, the 
impact of alternatives to institutionalization on the quality of life of a person receiving 
postacute care services, and state and national quality measures and funding methodologies 
for postacute care. 
 
The Legislative Commission appointed four members to the Subcommittee, including myself 
as Chair; Senator Joe Hardy, Vice Chair; Senator Joyce Woodhouse; and Assemblywoman 
Teresa Benitez-Thompson. 
 
Senate Bill 324 (1st Reprint) is the fifth bill from the Subcommittee; the other four remain in 
the Senate Finance Committee.  As background, postacute care includes a range of medical 
or health care services that support a patient's continuous recovery from illness or 
management of chronic illnesses or disability.  Postacute care is provided in a facility or 
within a home- or community-based setting.  The Subcommittee's charge to review the 
alternatives to institutionalization encouraged the Subcommittee to review distinctions in the 
services and assistance that could be provided to residents based on where they live.  In 
a residential setting, family members are frequently trained to help residents take and record 
certain defined vital signs, including a resident's pulse, blood pressure, finger-stick glucose 
test, oxygen saturation, and to administer insulin and assist with the administration of insulin.   
 
The Subcommittee received testimony indicating that unlicensed assistive personnel (UAPs) 
in home- and community-based settings are not authorized to receive appropriate training in 
defined vital signs or to assist certain residents in a manner similar to the assistance that may 
be offered by a family member or friend when the patient is living in his or her own home.   
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This prohibition applies to UAPs working in a residential facility for groups, an agency that 
provides personal care services in the home, an intermediary service organization, or in 
a facility for the care of adults during the day—adult day care centers. 
 
The Bureau of Healthcare Quality and Compliance (HCQC) proposed regulatory changes 
that would only cover the finger-stick glucose testing, not the administration of insulin.  The 
Subcommittee encouraged the HCQC to work toward regulatory changes that would allow 
UAPs to administer insulin and assist with the administration of insulin. 
 
The Subcommittee received testimony regarding federal requirements for the Centers for 
Medicare and Medicaid Services' Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments as they 
relate to blood glucose testing; however, it was acknowledged that other states may provide 
models that allow blood glucose testing by UAPs.  In addition, stressing the need for 
oversight in these settings, the Subcommittee heard cautionary remarks regarding the 
possibility of single-use injectable devices being used on multiple individuals, and the need 
to ensure proper insulin dosage. 
 
In an effort to give UAPs in these residential community settings authority that is similar to 
what is authorized for a friend or family member in a resident's home, the Subcommittee 
directed the drafting of S.B. 324 (R1). 
 
In summary, the bill requires the State Board of Health to adopt regulations authorizing an 
employee of a residential facility for groups, an agency to provide personal care services in 
the home, a facility for the care of adults during the day, or an intermediary service 
organization to check vital signs, administer insulin, and perform a blood glucose test.  The 
bill exempts any tasks performed in accordance with the adopted regulations from the scope 
of provisions relating to respiratory care and the licensing of medical laboratories, 
respectively. 
 
In conclusion, the intent of this measure is to give people who live in community-based 
settings access to the same assistance and services provided to individuals who live in their 
own or a family member's home.  Recognizing the intent of the measure, I encourage your 
support and thank you in advance for working with me and the interested parties to 
accomplish the goal of this measure, which is to provide greater independence to individuals 
regardless of their living arrangements. 
 
Assemblyman Thompson: 
In section 2, subsection 1, should we specify which employees?  Does it mean a person who 
might be hired to clean the residential facility?  You mentioned the employees who are not 
licensed, but is this inclusive of everyone? 
 
Assemblywoman Titus: 
My intent, and the way this bill was drafted, is to allow the regulations to be adopted by the 
Board.  It may be a person who comes in to prepare a meal or someone from the personal 
care association.  This might be for someone living in a one- or two-person house—a very 
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small facility.  They will not necessarily have a janitor, but if the janitor is the only one who 
comes in, that person could be trained.  These are unlicensed professionals.  They may be the 
neighbor or a best friend.  It does not matter as long as the person is trained to do the task.  
That is where the Board will create regulations describing who might be allowed to do that. 
 
Assemblyman Thompson: 
Does this impede upon job classifications? 
 
Assemblywoman Titus: 
I do not see that nor was it brought up.  This bill is not about certain jobs; it is about the 
individual who needs to stay in his or her home but who needs help with some basic tasks.  
We are looking at expanding who can do those things for those individuals and whether that 
person really needs to be a licensed person if he or she is trained to do these basic tasks.  We 
are talking about taking blood pressures, pulses, and performing a finger-stick test—things 
a person could normally do.  A person may not have the visual capacity to read a meter 
anymore and may ask a grandchild, "What does that say?" and then decide how much insulin 
to give themselves.  It may be that simple, because insulin can be self-administered as 
directed by a physician.  We are not talking about doing a treatment or intravenous (IV) 
therapy.   
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
Under section 2, subsection 2, paragraph (c), it says, "May require a person to receive 
training . . ." as opposed to "shall." 
 
Assemblywoman Titus: 
I have no problem with the wording either way.  "May" left it open, so if a person wants to 
give it, that individual may take the training.  Not everyone has to take the training if they are 
not interested in giving it.  If you are going to administer the medication or do any of these 
tasks, and you are an unlicensed person, then you should take the training; but they cannot 
force everyone to take the training.  That was my interpretation. 
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
A person has the training or does not have the training, but, in general, they know the skill—
taking a blood pressure reading, looking at blood sugar levels.  Is there any intent in this bill 
that the person must act upon the knowledge gained from doing that skill?  Is that part of the 
training, or is it simply being able to assist the individual in the skill without any real need to 
act upon, say, an unfavorable reading such as a blood pressure that is very low or a blood 
sugar that is very low or very high.  Is it just simply teaching them how to do the skill to 
assist the individual? 
 
Assemblywoman Titus: 
Excellent question.  The interpretation of whether a reading is high or low or what to do 
with it will be part of the regulatory process when the Board adopts the regulations.  Based 
on the testimony we heard, a lot of folks must keep a record of their blood pressure for 
follow-up appointments at their doctors' offices. Referring to insulin, lots of folks have 
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doctor-prescribed injection courses, a sliding scale in many cases, and know what to do with 
the test number.  That person who is doing the testing would not be making the decision 
about an alternate pathway of treatment or anything like that.  The tester would follow what 
the person would do as an individual, such as give X number of units of insulin if the number 
is over XXX.  That is the intent; allow the person to stay in a setting.  If they could take these 
readings on their own, they would be able to stay there, but they need some assistance to do 
that to enable them to stay there.  They are not to be making medical decisions.     
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
If that is truly the intent—just to know how to do the skill to assist the individual—I am 
probably comfortable with that being the legislative intent you have just put on the record.  If 
there is more to it than that, then I wonder if we need to look at language for liability 
protection and other things. 
 
Assemblywoman Titus: 
That is exactly the point of this bill:  to not make it so onerous that people would be 
uncomfortable.  It they are uncomfortable, they "may" do the testing and "may" take the 
training.  They are really assisting with something the person would otherwise do on his or 
her own.  Whatever the impairment, and visual was what we heard a lot of testimony about 
as well as arthritis, this would be an extension of the person.  It would enable that person to 
do a test he or she would otherwise do on their own. 
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
Committee, are there any other questions?  [There was no response.]  Is there anyone here in 
support of  S.B. 324 (R1)?   
 
Steve Gleicher, Owner, Right at Home, Las Vegas, Nevada; representing Personal Care 

Association of Nevada: 
Thank you for allowing me to speak on this important issue.  I am the administrator and 
owner of Right at Home, an agency to provide personal care services in the home.  Also, 
I am a board member of the Personal Care Association of Nevada (PCAN). 
 
Once upon a time, taking blood pressure included placing an armband in a certain spot, 
pumping up the armband manually, and listening with a stethoscope for the signs of the 
blood stopping and starting through the patient's veins.  Today, the armband is easily set up 
and a button is pushed to check the pressure.  The oxygen level is measured by putting 
a finger in a sensor and reading the output.  Testing vital signs also includes taking one's 
temperature, pulse, and weight—something all people do on their own.  Right now under the 
regulations, a personal care attendant (PCA) or unlicensed assistive personnel (UAP) is not 
allowed to take these vital signs on behalf of the patient.  It is something that an untrained 
14-year-old can do for a patient, but a trained personal care attendant is currently not 
allowed. 
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I think this is a big, positive step forward in that area, but the best part of this bill is allowing 
a trained PCA or UAP to check blood sugar and inject insulin, if necessary.  This action 
should require training and a medical/professional sign-off of the PCA, UAP, or caregiver 
before allowing them to do this to a patient; but it will open up for clients the ability to stay 
home, or, if needed, move into a group home or an assisted living facility.  Currently, they 
would have to go to a home for individual residential care, which is specially set up for 
diabetics or to a skilled nursing facility, which in many cases is not the desired outcome—
either financially or physically. 
 
In other words, it gives clients more freedom of choice as to where they want to live.  
Millions of diabetics have personal-use glucometers that they and their families and/or 
friends know how to use to check their blood sugars regularly so insulin can be administered 
if needed.  This regulation, if passed, would be a great thing for diabetic people in Nevada. 
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
Is there anyone else in support? 
 
Connie McMullen, representing Personal Care Association of Nevada: 
[Connie McMullen spoke from prepared text (Exhibit D).]  We supported S.B. 324 (R1) from 
the beginning; we thought it made good sense.  It improved access to health care services and 
the quality of life for so many people, especially those who are frail and disabled—many of 
them are homebound, and oftentimes, living in rural communities where they want to stay.  
They have lived there all their lives, but services are, in some cases, nonexistent.  This would 
improve health outcomes and prevent expensive emergency room visits and hospitalizations. 
 
Senate Bill 324 (1st Reprint) will enable personal care attendants to travel to the home and 
instruct a vulnerable population with lifesaving practices that are pretty simple.  It is not 
difficult to inject insulin today, but learning could be a deterrent because sometimes it is 
confusing when people do not feel well.  Even though someone may be given instructions by 
their physician, often they need to hear those instructions more than once.  The Personal Care 
Association of Nevada supported S.B. 324 (R1) when it was introduced, because it is just 
practical that nonmedical personnel should be okay to do these kinds of chores along with the 
ISO vital signs because the state is experiencing such a vast shortage of professionals. 
 
I want to point out that HCQC has five advisory boards.  Nursing, assisted living, adult day 
care, residential care in the home, and personal care assistance.  They meet four times a year.  
The Board could instruct them about any educational training needed.  Personal care 
assistants are also licensed and bonded in the event that there is a liability.  That has been in 
place since 2002.  This is great policy, and I thank Assemblywoman Titus for bringing it. 
 
Helen Foley, representing Nevada Assisted Living Association: 
The Nevada Assisted Living Association includes very large assisted living centers of 
150 individuals and facilities as small as 3 to 10 individuals.  We appreciated Senator Hardy 
and Assemblywoman Titus really understanding the issue and how important it is.  We are 
not asking for anything from the individuals who work at these facilities that a friend, 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/HHS/AHHS958D.pdf
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a neighbor, a son, a daughter, or the individuals themselves could not do or provide to their  
loved ones.  I remember Senator Hardy saying that it was really ridiculous that they had to 
call a paramedic to give someone an insulin shot—the patient's own, individualized shot—
because that was the only alternative. 
 
I have a letter that I would like to submit for the record (Exhibit E).  It is an affidavit from 
Steven R. Feller whose brother-in-law Meliton Ramirez was in an assisted living center—
Park Place Assisted Living Center—for many years.  He had an issue with diabetes, but did 
not need to be checked.  He lived at Park Place for three years, then he went into the 
Veterans Administration Hospital.  When he came out, he was mandated to have frequent 
finger sticks for his diabetes.  He was forced to become destitute, so he could get into 
a skilled nursing facility, just because he needed to check his diabetes.  There is not room in 
the skilled nursing facilities in the state of Nevada for all the diabetics.  He was sad that he 
had to leave his home, and it cost him three times more to live at the facility than his prior 
situation had cost. 
 
We think good regulations from the Board of Health and frequent requirements to be 
investigated through HCQC would go a long way in improving people's lives and enabling 
these individuals to have affordable long-term care.  We urge your support for this bill. 
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
Is there anyone else here in support of S.B. 324 (R1)?  [There was no one.]  Is there anyone 
who is in opposition?  [There was no one.]  Is there anyone neutral?  [There was no one.]  
Assemblywoman Titus, do you have any closing comments? 
 
Assemblywoman Titus: 
Thank you for hearing the bill.  Again, what we are doing here is requiring the State Board of 
Health to adopt regulations that are appropriate for the state.  The intent is to allow folks to 
stay in their homes, or in the closest thing resembling their homes, as long as possible. 
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
Thank you for presenting this bill today and for the work of your committee over the interim.  
We will close the hearing on S.B. 324 (R1). 
 
Next, we will open up the hearing on Senate Bill 483 (1st Reprint).       
  
Senate Bill 483 (1st Reprint):  Creates a procedure for the establishment of paternity in 

proceedings concerning a child in need of protection. (BDR 38-344) 
 
  

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/HHS/AHHS958E.pdf
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Senator Scott Hammond, Senate District No. 18: 
This bill is a product of our interim Legislative Committee on Child Welfare and Juvenile 
Justice, which I chaired.  It was a collaborative effort, but it came from Judge Egan Walker 
of Reno.  There are times in court when, even before you can get to what needs to be done to 
protect a child, the question is, who is the child's father?  This bill allows the court some 
latitude to get to that information.  Other details, such as who orders the testing and the 
outcomes of the testing, are in the bill.  Ms. Duffy is here to walk us through the bill. 
 
Brigid J. Duffy, Chief Deputy District Attorney, Juvenile Division, Office of the District 

Attorney, Clark County: 
I was a very active part of the interim Committee, and this bill arose because of some issues 
out of Washoe County.  Unfortunately, my colleagues from Washoe County were unable to 
be present today, but I want to commend the Alternate Public Defender who was a part of 
preparing and writing the language of this bill.   
 
This bill will amend Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) Chapter 432B.  In its amendment, it is 
going to add some procedures that will make it so that we are able to establish paternity 
within NRS Chapter 432B instead of having to establish paternity in a separate domestic 
action.  Section 2 of the bill provides that we can establish paternity by filing a motion, and 
then lists all the items that have to be in the motion.  It has to be in writing; it has to be 
scheduled for a hearing; it has to have the name of the father; whether the mother and father 
were married; who she was cohabitating with; if there is child support being paid; whether an 
alleged father has formally or informally acknowledged or declared his possible paternity; 
and a statement that if the alleged father does not appear at the hearing to consider the 
motion, that the court may, without further notice to the alleged father, enter that 
recommendation. 
 
The next section of the bill, section 3, talks about how, once that motion is filed, we have to 
serve that father personally.  Once we have proved personal service, if he does not appear, 
the court could still take steps to declare him as the father.  Section 4 talks about how a court, 
even without a motion, may still establish paternity to a child if the parents both sign an 
affidavit of paternity that is legally sworn to that establishes him as the father.  Section 5 
establishes that the court can order DNA testing or blood typing and genetic testing for the 
child.  That would be established if the alleged father submits a written response or gives 
sworn testimony to the court that he denies being the father.  A person could allege that more 
than one person could be the natural father to the child, so we want to make sure we have the 
actual DNA testing for that. 
 
Section 6 establishes that we are not subject to confidentiality rules, which are normal in 
NRS Chapter 432B cases.  We have now established who is the father, so now we can tell 
people who the father is, and we are not confined by our regular confidentiality laws.  
Section 6 also talks about amending the birth certificate for that establishment of paternity,  
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and then who the court may inform that paternity has been established—the Division of 
Welfare and Supportive Services, Department of Health and Human Services.  We have to be 
able to provide the social security number of that parent and of the natural mother, and we 
have to keep that social security number confidential when we do so. 
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
Are there any questions? 
 
Assemblyman Thompson: 
Ms. Duffy, in section 2, subsection 4, can you walk us through what is a "proper notice" of 
serving to an alleged father. 
 
Brigid Duffy: 
We will assume my office, the district attorney's office, filed a motion to establish paternity 
for a child.  At that point, we would file a motion and get a notice of hearing.  I would give it 
to either my investigator or my process server, who would then attempt to go to the last 
known address of the alleged father and personally hand him the piece of paper.  The 
investigator or process server would then sign an affidavit that the individual had been 
personally served with the notice of the hearing. 
 
Assemblyman Thompson: 
What if you cannot contact him?  What would you consider a proper serve if you cannot 
locate him and physically give him that notice?   
 
Brigid Duffy: 
According to this statutory change, at that point, there is still just an alleged father from what 
I can see in the bill.  There is no outcome if we are unable to serve him personally.  There is 
no publication requirement.  We cannot serve him, so the motion is not necessarily going to 
be heard. 
 
Assemblyman Thompson: 
So, all of this stops? 
 
Brigid Duffy: 
He would still be considered a putative father; somebody who we were unable to establish 
paternity on. 
 
Assemblyman Thompson: 
So this whole process still continues without him being properly served. 
 
Brigid Duffy: 
What process?  The NRS Chapter 432B process or the establishment of paternity process? 
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Assemblyman Thompson: 
In the scenario we were walking through, if you said you could not contact him or properly 
serve him, my question was, does this whole process stop?  Do you leave the kids alone and 
just stop the whole process, or does that mean you are still going to go through the process? 
 
Brigid Duffy: 
No, we cannot establish paternity unless he is personally served.  If we do not personally 
serve him, we cannot just say that he is the father. 
 
Assemblyman Thompson: 
I guess I am trying to go further and talk about the termination of parental rights (TPR) 
process, because this is what it ultimately is going to lead to.   
 
Brigid Duffy: 
I would like to believe that this leads to children being placed with their fathers and not to 
termination of parental rights, because establishment of paternity means that we open up 
placement for relatives and dads to take their children out of foster care.  Now, if that father 
is unfit, and we cannot reunify that father, yes, we may terminate his parental rights, but 
I choose to believe that with this process we are going to get kids out of foster care. 
 
Senator Hammond: 
We heard testimony from Judge Egan Walker who stated that often he would have two or 
three gentlemen in the courtroom.  They would try to figure out who really was the father, 
because they were trying to make a plan for the child, look out for that child, and figure out 
what the best scenario for the child would be.  Judge Walker had a really hard time trying to 
figure out who the father really was and who should be making those decisions.  That is 
where this came into play, because he wanted to make sure he could get to the bottom of who 
was the father.  He said there would be three men, and the one sitting next to the mother had 
been the father in the house for the previous seven years, yet really was not the child's father.  
This change to NRS Chapter 432B is really based around trying to determine the paternity of 
the father. 
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
Move on to section 2, subsection 3, paragraph (c), where the language talks about the 
individual not showing up.  Let us say he was served, but decided not to attend the hearing.  
Is the assumption then that he is the father?  What happens down the road if someone else 
suddenly steps forward and says that he is actually the father?  Because of this process, the 
assumption was made that one individual was the father, so where does that leave the 
situation at this point? 
 
Brigid Duffy: 
We have had situations where there has been one person on a birth certificate and another 
person has shown up saying that he thought he was the father.  That is not an unusual 
circumstance.  In the NRS Chapter 432B cases that I have handled, we usually order a DNA 
test at the expense of the child welfare agency—at the direction of the court.  Then we have 
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two rebuttable presumptions of who the father is—the guy she was married to who is on the 
birth certificate or the person she had a relationship with who is now coming forward saying 
the child is his.  Ultimately, the court decides between the two rebuttable presumptions.  
Within our paternity statutes, there are some hierarchies as to determining that the genetic 
testing is ultimately going to overrule the person named on the birth certificate who was just 
married to the mother. 
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
So, by precedent or otherwise, a process is already in place to deal with that situation is what 
I am hearing. 
 
Brigid Duffy: 
That is correct. 
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
What happens if the individual is served and does not, for whatever reason, show up, and the 
assumption is made that this is the father.  Is there recourse later down the road for that 
individual to demand a paternity test or something like that; or at that point, is the person 
now legally the father of that child? 
 
Brigid Duffy: 
Let us say the father does not show up and the court finds that we have proven paternity by 
whatever means—there is proof that they are residing together, or they were married at the 
time of birth.  Later he comes forward because he is now having to pay child support and 
says, "I dispute that."  I think he would be able to have a DNA test to prove that he was not 
the father.  Nothing in this bill precludes that from happening if he wants to dispute it, 
because he did not show up after being personally served.   
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
Committee, are there other questions? 
 
Assemblywoman Benitez-Thompson: 
I am looking at section 2, where it says, "If a petition alleging that a child is or may be in 
need of protection . . . ."  Could you talk to me about what the circumstances are for "may 
be?"   
 
Brigid Duffy: 
When we bring children into care, there is a statutory section that says a child is in need of 
protection, and then there is a statutory section that says that a child may be in need of 
protection.  The language stating, "may be in need of protection," relates to a parent being 
incarcerated or hospitalized.  Those are just two examples.  We may bring a child we just 
removed in, and at the same time, have a petition to establish paternity, but we do not even 
know if that child is in need of protection yet, because we have not adjudicated the case.  
A lot of times, where one parent may be incarcerated or hospitalized, it is only that the child 
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"may" be in need of protection, because there might be someone else to care for that child, 
and we do not have to have a full, formal case.   
 
Assemblywoman Benitez-Thompson: 
Right now, in the life of a case, when does the paternity testing usually happen?  This looks 
like the paternity testing would be right at the very front end of a case.  Is that correct?  
Establishment of paternity seems to be moving up in the time frame. 
 
Brigid Duffy: 
There is nothing currently in NRS Chapter 432B that tells us when we need to do this.  There 
is best practice, and best practice would be immediately.  Going back to my answer to 
Assemblyman Thompson's question, we should be establishing paternity immediately to get 
these kids out of foster care and to get them with family.  There is nothing that tells us when 
to do it now; but we really do need to be doing it as soon as that child hits foster care.  If we 
wait until the termination of parental rights to start that process, we have gone on too long.  
We should be getting these kids in and out as fast as possible.  If we wait to that end, then 
a whole bunch of heartache happens after that when we establish who the dad is.  This should 
be the very first thing, and by saying, "If a petition alleging . . . is or may be in need of 
protection," that is dictating to the Department that we can start that as soon as we file that 
petition, which is usually within the first ten days.   
 
Assemblywoman Benitez-Thompson: 
I do not see it listed here, but when there is posting done related to the paternity test, when 
you are looking for an unknown father, the child welfare agency has to post and leave it up 
for a specific length of time.   Are those same posting requirements maintained with this 
legislation, or do we lose those? 
 
Brigid Duffy: 
Are you asking about the service by publication when we serve?  [Assemblywoman Benitez-
Thompson nodded yes.]  This proposed statute does not contemplate publishing; it only 
contemplates personal service.  If we cannot personally serve, then we just have a putative 
father.  When we work through a child welfare case, we are looking for the father throughout 
the life of the case, so we should always be running a search of the names of the dad or dads 
we have, so we can try to find them.  We publish when we get to the termination of parental 
rights.   
 
Assemblywoman Benitez-Thompson: 
So they do not preclude each other, correct? 
 
Brigid Duffy: 
No, on the record. 
 
Assemblywoman Benitez-Thompson: 
I am looking at sections 1, 2, and 3, but what I do not see in here is that there is no way to 
waive this requirement.  For every child who enters the system there will be a paternity test, 
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and there will be tests done to find the father.  Is there an option for the guarantee or for 
a parent to, in fact, opt out?  If there is a legally married couple and both are testing to be 
parents, this bill would still mandate that the legal husband would have to be tested to have 
paternity established, or am I reading this wrong? 
 
Brigid Duffy: 
To clarify, section 2 says a motion "may" be filed.  As a state's attorney, if I have a birth 
certificate that has a mother and a father on it, I am not filing a petition to establish paternity; 
however, if another person shows up and says that he is the father, nothing precludes that 
person from filing a petition.  The petition could be filed by the child's attorney.  A child's 
attorney could come in and say this fellow is named on that child's birth certificate, but the 
child has always known this other fellow as his or her dad, and that child's attorney can file 
a motion to establish paternity.  It is permissive, so I do not think in every case we are going 
to have it; only if there is a question of paternity brought by some party to the action. 
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
Are there any other questions from the Committee?  [There were none]  Seeing none, thank 
you for your presentation.  Is there anyone here in support of S.B. 483 (R1) wishing to come 
forward? 
 
Sean B. Sullivan, Deputy Public Defender, Office of the Public Defender, Washoe 
County: 
I am here today to support this measure.  Mr. William Harp from the Washoe County 
Alternate Public Defender's Office had a hand in drafting this piece of legislation.  He, 
unfortunately, could not be here today, nor could Judge Walker.  I do not have a lot of 
institutional knowledge in this area of the law, but I do have their phone numbers.  If there 
are any unanswered questions that this Committee may have, I would be happy to reach out 
to both those gentlemen and get those questions answered.  Our office, as well as that of the 
alternate public defender, support S.B. 483 (R1). 
 
Chairman Sprinkle: 
Thank you.  Is there anyone else in support of S.B. 438 (R1) either here or in southern 
Nevada?  [There was no response.]  Is there anyone in opposition to S.B. 483 (R1)?  [There 
was no response.]  Is there anyone neutral to S.B. 483 (R1)?   [There was no response.]  Do 
you have any closing comments? 
 
Senator Hammond: 
This came from Judge Walker when he spoke to our committee during the interim.  He said 
there were so many things that happen in court when dealing with these children, and that 
they try to make plans but there are all these disputes.  Sometimes there will be two or three 
men in court all saying that they are or are not the father.  He wanted another tool to be able 
to get to the bottom of the situation, so they could start making plans.  That is the intent of 
the bill, and I appreciate everyone who spoke about the bill.  They did a good job of walking 
through the bill and explaining the nuances of it.  Thank you again for hearing the bill. 
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Chairman Sprinkle: 
With that, we will close the hearing on S.B. 483 (R1) and open up for public comment.  Is 
there anyone wishing to come forward under public comment?  [There was no one.]  I will 
close public comment.  Thank you, Committee, for your participation today.  We are 
adjourned [at 1:45 p.m.].         
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EXHIBITS 
 

Exhibit A is the Agenda. 
 
Exhibit B is the Attendance Roster. 
 
Exhibit C is a copy of a document titled "Comments Regarding the Subcommittee to 
Conduct a Study of Postacute Care (A.B. 242, 2015) Senate Bill No. 324," Presented by: 
Assemblywoman Robin L. Titus, Assembly District No. 38, in support of Senate Bill 324 
(1st Reprint). 
 
Exhibit D is a copy of a letter in support of Senate Bill 324 (1st Reprint) to 
Chairman Sprinkle and Assembly Health and Human Services Members, dated May 1, 2017, 
written and presented by Connie McMullen, representing Personal Care Association of 
Nevada. 
 
Exhibit E is a copy of a letter written by Steven R. Feller with an attached affidavit dated 
March 2, 2017, submitted by Helen Foley, representing Nevada Assisted Living Association, 
in support of Senate Bill 324 (1st Reprint).  
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